
FINAL 
BUDGET ADVISORY BOARD 
CITY OF FORT LAUDERDALE 

Executive Airport Conference Room 
6000 NW 21st Avenue 

Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33309 
 

Wednesday, October 14, 2009 
6:00 p.m. 

 
 
Board Members: 
 
 
Alan Silva     P 
Keith Cobb     P 
Marc Dickerman    P 
Ray Williams     P 
June Page     P 
Fred Nesbitt     P 
Anthony Timiraos    P  (arrived at 6:20 p.m.) 
Bud Bentley     P  (arrived at 6:27 p.m.) 
Desorae Giles- Smith    A 
Sam Monroe     A 
 
(Mr. Herbst arrived at the meeting at approximately 6:29 p.m., and Norman Mason 
arrived at approximately 7:25 p.m.) 
 
Staff Present: 
 
Shonda Singleton-Taylor, Acting Director, Office of Management & Budget 
Michael Kinneer, Finance Director 
Darlene Pfeiffer, Parking and Fleet Services 
Lynda Flynn, Finance Department 
John Herbst, City Auditor 
Norman Mason, Staff Liaison, Assistant Budget Director 
 
 
Ms. Taylor stated two individuals were not reappointed to the Board as of this time. They 
were Sam Monroe and Desorae Giles-Smith. She advised they were still being 
considered as members of this Board until reappointed or dismissed. She stated that 
based on 10 members, six would make a quorum.  
 
Roll Call 
 
Roll call was taken and a quorum was present. 
 
Election of Officers 
 
It was stated this Board ceased to exist as of September 30, 2009. It was advised that 
the Board had been re-instituted on October 1, 2009.  



Draft Minutes 
Budget Advisory Board 
October 14, 2009                                                                                                            Page 2     
 
Marc Dickerman nominated Alan Silva as the Chair of the Budget Advisory Board. 
 
June Page nominated Keith Cobb as Chair of the Budget Advisory Board. 
 
Motion by Alan Silva and seconded by Marc Dickerman hat Keith Cobb be elected 
unanimously as Chair of the Budget Advisory Board.  
 
June Page was nominated as Vice Chair of the Budget Advisory Board. The nomination 
was seconded.  
 
Motion made to close nominations for Vice Chair.  
 
June Page was elected unanimously as Vice Chair of the Budget Advisory Board. 
 
Communications to City Commission 
 
Staff would check with the City Commission regarding their availability to attend a 
Budget Advisory Board meeting on either November 3rd or the 17th. 
 
Approval of Minutes 
 
Motion made and seconded to accept the revised draft of minutes for the August 13, 
2009 Budget Advisory Board meeting.  
 
The following corrections were made: 
 
On Page 5, third paragraph, the word “and” should be changed to read “an area.” 
On Page 6, the second: “as long as” should be deleted. 
On Page 9, next to the last sentence on reports, it reads: “report’s”, and it should be 
corrected to read as “reports.” 
On Page 10, it should read: “third suggestion,” and not second suggestion. 
 
Mr. Silva stated that on Page 2, first paragraph, it should read: “vehicle rental fund,” 
instead of parking fund. This occurs in two places.  
 
Ms. Taylor stated it was her belief that the wording: “Ms. Alarcon stated the money went 
to the vehicle rental fund,” is correct.  
 
The minutes of August 13, 2009 were approved as amended. 
 
Motion made and seconded to accept the minutes of the August 25, 2009 Budget 
Advisory Board meeting. 
 
The following corrections were made: 
 
Under the roll call, Sam Monroe was not listed. Mr. Silva explained that Mr. Monroe had 
voluntarily resigned at that time. Ms. Taylor stated the Board had not been holding 
regular meetings, and therefore, Mr. Monroe was still considered a member of this 
Board.  
 



Draft Minutes 
Budget Advisory Board 
October 14, 2009                                                                                                            Page 3     
 
On page 4, #2, second paragraph states: “will exceed X dollars,” and asked if an amount 
was to be placed there.  It was stated that a specific number was not available at that 
time. 
 
Motion made and seconded to accept the minutes of the August 25, 2009 Budget 
Advisory Board meeting as amended. Board unanimously approved. 
 
Meeting Schedule 
 
The second Wednesday of the month had been chosen originally for Budget Advisory 
Board meetings, but a suggestion was made to schedule the meetings either the second 
Tuesday or Thursday of the month.  Ms. Taylor stated the third Wednesday of the month 
would be available for a meeting room.  
 
It was decided to schedule Budget Advisory Board meetings on the third Wednesday of 
the month until the end of September, 2010 for the 8th Floor Conference Room at City 
Hall.  
 
Old Business 
 
It was proposed that workshops be scheduled with the City Commission regarding the 
budget. Staff would work with the Commission to see what dates were available.  
 
Mr. Bentley explained that in the past workshops were scheduled with the City 
Commission on their regularly scheduled Tuesdays. November Commission meetings 
were scheduled for November 3rd and the 17th.  December meetings are scheduled for 
the 1st and the 15Th.  
 
A list of comments made by the Commission at the workshops and Budget Hearings 
was presented to the Board Members. The Commission asked for these comments to be 
addressed by this Board.  One item was whether they should do 3-5 year budgeting, but 
that would require a change in the City’s Charter. Another item was that the Board set a 
target for the Reserve Fund. Other comments for review pertained to examining the 
supervisory levels within the City Departments and make recommendations, 
Departments should present a zero-based budget to the Budget Advisory Board, and 
focus on next year’s budget. Follow-up should be done in regard to recommendations 
made by this Board for fiscal year 2010/2011. The City Commission’s number one 
concern next year will be the budget.  
 
These issues would be addressed in a workshop with the City Commission.  
 
It was suggested that November 17, 2009 be suggested to the Commission for a budget 
workshop.  
 
Motion made and seconded to invite the City Commission to a budget workshop 
meeting to be held on either November 3rd or the 17th. Board unanimously approved. 
 
 
 
 



Draft Minutes 
Budget Advisory Board 
October 14, 2009                                                                                                            Page 4     
 
Draft Minutes of August 25, 2009 
 
It was stated that the minutes of the August 25, 2009 meeting were made available to 
individuals, but the Budget Advisory Board members did not have copies for their review. 
It was requested that once draft minutes be submitted to the City Clerk’s office and the 
public, they be provided to the Budget Advisory Board.  
 
Mr. Bentley stated there would be resistance to that suggestion. He offered as an 
alternative that if the City Clerk’s Office receives a public request for minutes that the 
Board involved also receive such information. 
 
Mr. Silva stated that some members had received copies of the minutes before their 
publication. 
 
The process for receiving minutes was explained by Bobbi Williams. She stated that 
motions made by this Board had been submitted to the Clerk’s Office, and they are not 
sure what had transpired.  
 
Mr. Silva stated it was his understanding that a Commissioner had requested copies of 
this Board’s minutes, along with their recommendations. He referred to Mr. Mason’s e-
mail regarding Board minutes. 
 
New Business 
 
Board’s Agenda 
 
Mr. Williams stated it appears there will be a $25 million additional shortfall in the next 
fiscal year, and $10 million would have to be replaced in non-recurring funds. This could 
not be done as part of the budget process, and would have to be done proactively on an 
on-going basis throughout the year at management level. These types of discussions 
have to be agreed upon. The roles of the Commission and the Budget Advisory Board 
regarding the budget have to be determined. There have to be ways to re-invent the 
government’s way of doing business, and not just looking at nickels and dimes.  
 
Mr. Williams stated the Commission has four priorities. The Board needs to ask the 
Commission to prioritize those four items. 
 
Ms. Page stated even though the Commission is realizing the next year would be 
difficult, they still have the four priorities. The Board has to make them understand that 
the four criteria could not stay in place and resolve the shortfall. This would not be 
accomplished with just cutting out the vacant positions.  
 
Mr. Bentley stated there would be a negative balance at the end of the next fiscal year, 
and the Commission should not be worrying about the Reserve Fund. They have to 
change budget policies to help resolve the issue. He believes this Board needs to draft 
budget policies and establish recommendations that have to be implemented as soon as 
possible.  
 
Mr. Nesbitt stated the Board made a series of recommendations and requested they be 
implemented in the next budget year. They need to follow-up on such recommendations  



Draft Minutes 
Budget Advisory Board 
October 14, 2009                                                                                                            Page 5     
and see how things would be done during the year. The Commission wants zero-based 
budgeting, but not sure how to implement it. The Mayor suggested that departments 
submit such budgets to the Budget Advisory Board. Mr. Nesbitt stated he was not sure 
that was the role of this Board.  
 
The Commission is re-establishing the Charter Advisory Board. This Board should work 
with them so language could be drafted regarding the five-year strategic requirement.  
 
It was stated that such language had been drafted and an ordinance would be taken 
before the Commission. 
 
Chair Keith Cobb asked if a motion should be made by this Board supporting an 
amendment to the Charter requiring five-year budgeting.  
 
Mr. Silva asked how they defined strategic financial planning. The City Auditor stated 
there would be two parts. The first part would be a five-year forecast based on current 
and known revenues and expenditures, and the second part would consist of 
forecasting.  
 
Mr. Timeraos suggested they be proactive and create a schedule before meeting with 
the City Commission providing staff advanced time for preparation and specific requests 
could be made of staff.  
 
It was suggested that Board Members be assigned to departments to obtain specific 
information. Ms. Page agreed and stated that questions could be prepared in advance, 
and Board Members could become better informed.  
 
It was asked if they were thinking of fundamental ways to accomplish specific missions 
and tasks or just understand dollars and cents.  The Board needed to find a way to 
become a catalyst for discussion.  
 
Ms. Page stated that government runs the way they do, and what would be their 
willingness to make changes. She asked if they are going to make up the shortfall 
through an increase in revenues or by decreasing expenses.   
 
Mr. Silva stated one of their recommendations was to reduce the amount of 
expenditures. As a result, they were trying to focus on what could be done more 
efficiently. He explained zero-based budgeting would allow the larger departments to 
prioritize their activities. He did not believe they would have to raise revenue to help 
meet the shortfall. The Board also recommended that every revenue source should be 
reviewed and see to what extent it is self-sufficient.  Fees might have to be increased. 
This would get everyone to focus on fees during the year, rather than at the end of the 
year. He feels the City has to move sooner, rather than later, in doing all of these things. 
Training would have to be established regarding zero-based budgeting. The fiscal year 
has begun, and yet no one has an idea as to what is being done for the zero-based 
budget.  
 
It was stated that every city in the County is having budget problems. There has to be a 
more efficient way to do things if they work together. Every department head should be 
challenged to discuss certain items with neighboring municipalities and aggressively find  



Draft Minutes 
Budget Advisory Board 
October 14, 2009                                                                                                            Page 6     
ways to share or outsource them. The other thing is to outsource activities. Some 
scenarios were presented. Supervisors need to think outside the box, but it is not easy.  
 
More information was requested regarding union contracts.  
 
Ms. Taylor advised that negotiations were still ongoing with police and fire. Mr. Bentley 
advised if a contract is imposed, it would be for one year. 
 
Mr. Nesbitt stated he was informed that not all information is available to the public 
regarding negotiations.  
 
The City Auditor stated that negotiation sessions are public meetings, but there are no 
minutes to his knowledge. The closed door sessions are where the Manager makes 
recommendations to the City Commission, and they are exempt from public record. He 
stated the last offer from the Union was for 6, 4 and 4. Three-year contracts are being 
discussed. 
 
Ms. Page stated that she did not understand why the City would contemplate making 
agreements to such demands in the present state of today’s economy. 
 
The City Auditor stated there were bargaining issues that still had to be considered 
regarding the City’s proposal. The first is morale, and the second is remaining 
competitive with other agencies in the State who are presently hiring. The City of 
Hollywood is giving 12% raises. The FOP has a challenge in negotiating their contracts. 
If Fort Lauderdale is not competitive, they could lose five-year officers. The City Auditor 
stated everything comes into play when offers are being made.  
 
Mr. Bentley referred to the Davie Officers and what occurred in that city. He stated there 
was a lot of politics in connection with labor negotiations.  
 
Mr. Bentley further stated that in the past individuals who did the department analysis, 
often became the biggest advocates for the departments.  
 
When it comes to parceling out, the Police Department is a tough area because they are 
dealing on a national level, as well as local.  
 
Mr. Silva stated there is one part of open meeting law that recognizes a fact-finding 
group as not being covered, and not required to have notes taken. They could 
technically have one or two people be fact-finders for a specific item, but could not make 
recommendations. If they want a person within a department, if it is a designee of this 
body, it would be covered under the open meeting law. It would be considered a liaison 
function. If they decide to do this, legal counsel should be brought on board. 
 
Mr. Bentley stated they are not going to solve the $35 million shortfall. Those answers 
have to come from the departments, and management would process that through the 
budget system. The departments would not propose radical changes until the moment 
the Commission convinces them of a crisis. He stated if they would be individually 
assigned to a department, where would their training and continuity come in.  
 
Managers would not undertake the pain of change without being given specific direction 
by the Commission. A number one priority of the workshop would be to get them to  



Draft Minutes 
Budget Advisory Board 
October 14, 2009                                                                                                            Page 7     
understand that and provide specific directions to the City Manager. Results would have 
to be seen on a monthly basis. It is not a budget issue, but a rethinking of how to do their 
jobs. At some point, it would become a budget issue. 
 
A piece of this could come from the budget process. Zero-based budgeting should not 
be done every year, but it is time for this City to do it. There are specific techniques and 
methodology that have to be learned and followed.  
 
It was suggested that the City Auditor provide an outline to this Board as to what they 
could debate, and recommend to the Commission what has to be done, along with a 
time frame. The Board does not have a comprehensive understanding of what is 
required to make such a recommendation. They need to start on this now. 
 
Mr. Silva stated he is concerned about the Commission defining certain things such as 
vital services. Such services are hard to define unless a zero-based budget had been 
done. For example, not every police officer is essential. In addition to the vacant 
positions, there was an equal number of positions not being left vacant. He asked why 
the positions were being filled if they had been vacant for a year or more. He believed 
this would be a good time to not fill a position until a zero-based budget was done that 
would certify the permanency of the position. He feels there are better ways of doing 
things that are less costly and more effective. A study had been done regarding staffing 
levels about five years ago which stated they were okay at that time.  
 
The issue of an additional firehouse arose regarding possible annexations.  
 
The City Auditor was asked if he could provide framework for a zero-based budget.  The 
City Auditor stated he could not do that because it would compromise his role as Auditor. 
He explained his participation in this Board has given him qualms from day one, and he 
had expressed his concern to the Commission. His role as Auditor is to stand apart from 
operations and things involving operations. He was asked originally to participate to 
provide some sort of context, foundation and understanding to individuals not familiar 
with government environment. He feels he has been walking a fine line.  
 
Mr. Nesbitt believed they needed to provide some sort of motivation to the City, 
otherwise they would not do the zero-based budgeting.  
 
It was suggested that they do such budgeting for 2-3 departments as a way of testing 
and implementing that type of budget.  
 
Ms. Page believed a consultant would have to be hired. She suggested this Board make 
such a recommendation.  
 
Ms. Taylor stated they have already begun looking at revising the guide used for the 
budget process that would be finalized within the next month. She further stated that 
training would also be provided. The new guide would have more depth to it than the 
previous one. 
 
It was asked if CPAs ever offer to assist cities in their budgeting. Mr. Silva stated that 
other cities have already invented the wheel and have done zero-based budgeting who 
might be able to assist the City in this endeavor.  
 



Draft Minutes 
Budget Advisory Board 
October 14, 2009                                                                                                            Page 8     
 
Ms. Taylor explained there were over 400 activity levels across the departments. 
Proposal forms were completed for each activity level within each department. 
 
It was asked if the Board could receive a copy of such form. Ms. Taylor confirmed, and 
stated once the new form was adopted, a copy of that could also be provided to the 
Board.  It was stated that the entire leadership of the City has to be involved in this. It 
was stated that the Commission is looking to this Board for direction on how to 
implement zero-based budgeting. A pilot program could be started. 
 
Mr. Timeraos stated the Board is not going to solve this issue. He recommended that the 
Budget Office make a presentation at one of their Board meetings regarding their new 
plan. The Board could then decide if it appears feasible.  
 
People are needed that have expertise to work on the budget.  
 
Ms. Page asked if there was any city locally that had been successful with that type of 
budgeting. The City Auditor stated that Miami-Dade had successfully conducted a pilot 
program. He further stated they would have to go to Miami-Dade. It has been his 
experience that when someone has done such things, due to the openness of the 
working arena, they are fond of sharing knowledge.  
 
Ms. Taylor stated it was her understanding that the County had used zero-based 
budgeting also, but she was not aware of the results. 
 
Mr. Silva stated he believed there was a Florida Municipal Finance Officials Association, 
and they could probably advise who had done this type of budgeting. The City Auditor 
stated there is a web site where Finance Directors in the State answer questions and 
provide information. Mr. Silva recommended they check the web site out and see what 
information was available. 
 
The Board recommended that before the meeting with the City Commission, the Office 
of Management and Budget explore nearby municipalities that have done zero-based 
budgeting for guidance and information. It was suggested that such information could be 
reviewed at the meeting with the Commission and possible recommendations made. 
Then, in December the Commission could return and advise the Board what steps have 
been taken regarding zero-based budgeting. The Board unanimously agreed. 
 
Chair Keith Cobb reviewed the issues addressed by this Board at today’s meeting.   
 
It was suggested the City Manager provide status reports on some of the future budget 
recommendations made by this Board, such as identifying surplus property, and 
providing a schedule and reviewing service fees based on inflation and costs. Other 
items were raised for further discussion and should be placed on a schedule and 
prioritized, and reports provided to this Board. 
 
Chair Keith Cobb stated that all this would start with the Commission. The shortfall could 
not be solved with just budget cuts, and revenue issues would have to be reviewed. 
Possibly, some of the Enterprise Funds should be reviewed.  
 
 



Draft Minutes 
Budget Advisory Board 
October 14, 2009                                                                                                            Page 9     
Mr. Bentley stated he had made two recommendations to the Commission. One was that 
they try zero-based budgeting with two departments, and the other suggestion was for 
the Commission to create a decision-making process for next year.  
 
It was stated that the Charter Review Board was considering recommending that the first 
draft of the budget be presented earlier than what had been done this year. The City 
Auditor stated he advised the Board that the budget could not be finalized until July 1st 
when the Property Appraiser provides the final taxable assessed values. They could 
probably come within 10% based on early guidance.  
 
Ms. Taylor stated that typically they first look at the numbers on June 1st.  
 
Mr. Silva stated they need to “nail down” revenue sources for next year as soon as 
possible. For all intents and purposes, the Property Appraiser would know as of January 
1st the reduction in property values for the past year that would give everyone an idea 
regarding the assessed values. There would probably be major changes in the 
commercial and industrial properties because they have taken a heavy hit, and will 
continue to do so. Commercial properties will most likely hit bottom next year. Then, the 
foreclosure problem will increase.  
 
It was suggested this Board look at zero-based budgeting in December, and focus on 
property taxes in January. The Board agreed. It was recommended they also review how 
contracts would affect escalating cost structure.  
 
Mr. Bentley reminded the Board of the language of the ordinance regarding this Board, 
and their not being involved with collective bargaining issues. Expiration dates of various 
contracts were mentioned.  
 
It was suggested this Board target the size of the problem at the end of this year so 
issues could be addressed. It was stated that at least guess estimates could be provided 
for them to work with.  
 
Mr. Bentley suggested that this Board analyze in January the affects of the labor 
contracts and property taxes. 
 
It was asked if this Board could obtain copies of the financial reports provided to the 
Commission.  The City Auditor stated it was his understanding that such reports had 
been reviewed by this Board in the past. Mr. Bentley stated it was his understanding the 
Board would review such reports quarterly. Mr. Silva stated they should also review the 
past fiscal year to see expenses and revenues. Ms. Taylor stated her office would supply 
such information. She stated the reports were on the Commission’s agenda for the first 
meeting of the month.  She advised that a copy of the September report would be 
provided to the Board at their next meeting. 
 
Mr. Silva stated that one of the things important in regard to collective bargaining was 
not only the amount of money involved, but also language that would stop them from 
doing various things. He stated some contracts address minimum staffing levels and 
replacement of individuals. Changes would have to be bargained with the unions. It was 
stated they would not be reinventing government because it had to be done from within. 
It was further stated there were Federal staffing laws in effect for various departments. If  



Draft Minutes 
Budget Advisory Board 
October 14, 2009                                                                                                            Page 10     
staffing requirements are not met, insurance rates and liability issues are affected. 
Various examples were provided.  
 
Chair Keith Cobb suggested that the Board focus on cooperative measures and potential 
outsourcing at their February meeting. It was stated that substantive ideas should be 
provided to this Board for that meeting. Chair Keith Cobb stated that between now and 
the November meeting, he would attempt to crystallize the issues into some sort of order 
so the Board could present an agenda to the Commission.  
 
Mr. Silva stated they should add the question of interlocal agreements into discussions 
regarding privatization. He believes a study had been done in-house regarding various 
types of privatization the City might undertake. Possibly, an update of that study could 
be done.  
 
Mr. Bentley stated there was documentation regarding what the City outsourced. The 
City has always been fairly progressive in that regard. Mr. Silva stated they could review 
other outsourcing opportunities. 
 
It was suggested they research what other municipalities have outsourced, and success 
of interlocal agreements. The City Auditor stated that fundamentally, they could 
outsource everything. A list of examples make it harder for the opposition.  
 
It was asked when the voters would be presented with the five-year plan. The City 
Auditor explained it would be presented next November.  
 
Ms. Taylor clarified the Board’s comments to the City Commission as follows: 
 

• Budget/Commission Workshop be held on November 3rd or November 17th. 
 
Motion made and seconded to adjourn the meeting. 
 
There being no other business to come before the Board, the meeting was adjourned at 
approximately 8:00 p.m. 
 
 
      Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
 
      Margaret A. Muhl 
      Recording Secretary 



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /None
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /CMYK
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments true
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e9ad88d2891cf76845370524d53705237300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc9ad854c18cea76845370524d5370523786557406300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /FRA <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <FEFF9ad854c18cea306a30d730ea30d730ec30b951fa529b7528002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020658766f8306e4f5c6210306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103055308c305f0020005000440046002030d530a130a430eb306f3001004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d3067958b304f30533068304c3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020ace0d488c9c80020c2dcd5d80020c778c1c4c5d00020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken die zijn geoptimaliseerd voor prepress-afdrukken van hoge kwaliteit. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /PTB <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents best suited for high-quality prepress printing.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /ConvertToCMYK
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure false
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles false
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice


